IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-374

JOSEPH CEPHAS,	
Petitioner,	
vs.	
MARK J. LETZTER, M.D., et al.,	
Respondents.	

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRIEF OF PETITIONER JOSEPH CEPHAS

LYTAL, REITER, CLARK, FOUNTAIN & WILLIAMS, LLP
P.O. Box 4056
West Palm Beach, Florida 33402-4056
(561) 655-1990 / Fax (561) 832-2932
-andPODHURST, ORSECK, JOSEFSBERG, EATON, MEADOW, OLIN & PERWIN, P.A.
25 West Flagler Street, Suite 800
Miami, Florida 33130
(305) 358-2800 / Fax (305) 358-2382

By: JOEL S. PERWIN Fla. Bar No. 316814

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case is here on certification of two issues: 1) whether the doctrine of *Stuart* v. Hertz, 351 So.2d 703 (Fla. 1977) has been abrogated by the Tort Reform and Insurance Act of 1986, Chapter 86-160, Laws of Florida, creating §768.81(3) ("the court shall enter judgment against each party liable on the basis of such party's percentage at fault and not on the basis of the doctrine of joint and several liability");1/ and 2) whether the doctrine of Stuart v. Hertz should continue to apply to two successive acts of medical malpractice, when both tortfeasors are sued in the same action. Letzter v. Cephas, 26 Fla. L. Weekly D293, D295-96 (Fla. 4th DCA Jan. 24, 2001). Regardless of the Court's disposition of those two questions, because the parties in this case stipulated that *Stuart v. Hertz* survives the statute, the remaining question is whether the district court erred in holding that the jury's assignment of fault to both doctors in this case necessarily imported the jury's finding that they were joint tortfeasors (even in the absence of a jury instruction on the issue), and thus that §768.81(3) required that judgment be entered according to its allocation of fault. We respectfully submit that a jury's assignment of fault to both of two tortfeasors--its finding that the second of the two tortfeasors was also a legal cause of all or part of the plaintiff's injury-does not *ipso facto* import the conclusion that the two were joint tortfeasors and that the doctrine of *Stuart v. Hertz* therefore should not apply. To the contrary, it is commonplace that a subsequent tortfeasor--here, the second of two

 $^{^{1/}}$ This issue has been briefed and argued in $D'Amario\ v$. Ford Motor Co., Case No. 95,881. It may not be decided in D'Amario, however, if the Court accepts the plaintiff's contention that the initial act of wrongdoing was intentional.

Page

treating physicians--can be held liable to the plaintiff even if a prior tortfeasor's negligence was a legal cause of the entire injury.

A. The Facts. The following facts are all stated in the district court's opinion. In 1990, Plaintiff Joseph Cephas was diagnosed with diabetes, which narrows the blood vessels and therefore increases the risk of peripheral vascular disease, which restricts blood flow to the extremities and makes it difficult for wounds to heal. In January of 1996, Mr. Cephas was treated at St. Mary's Hospital in West Palm Beach for an ulcer on the toe of his right foot. Defendant Mark Letzter, a vascular specialist, diagnosed dry gangrene of the right middle toe as the result of arterial blockage, but recommended that Mr. Cephas wait and see whether the toe would fall off by itself, instead of preventing infection by surgically amputating the toe and/or conducting a distal bypass to restore blood flow to the foot. A Plaintiff's expert testified that Dr. Letzter's recommendation constituted medical malpractice.

When Mr. Cephas saw Dr. Letzter again in early February of 1996, he was suffering from fluid drain from the toe and pain in his thigh. Dr. Letzter ran some tests on the thigh, and told Mr. Cephas that the fluid drain was not indicative of wet gangrene, but rather that the toe was in the process of autoamputating. A Plaintiff's expert testified that this diagnosis was erroneous, and that Dr. Letzter should have performed a distal bypass.

When Dr. Letzter saw Mr. Cephas on February 20 he finally said that surgery was necessary, but that there was no emergency and it could be performed the

Page

following week. The Plaintiff's expert testified that this conclusion was erroneous; the surgery should have been performed within a day or two. When Mr. Cephas called Dr. Letzter on February 25 complaining of pain and reporting that his toe was starting to fall off, Dr. Letzter advised Mr. Cephas to "stay the course" and that surgery would be scheduled within the next few days.

By March 1, however, Dr. Letzter's inaction had allowed the infection to get out of control, and Mr. Cephas was required to go to the emergency room at Glades Hospital near his house in West Palm Beach, because of pain in his foot. He was treated by Defendant Dr. Lucien Armand, a general surgeon who amputated Mr. Cephas' entire forefoot--which all witnesses said was necessary at that point; and he also performed a femoral-to-popliteal artery bypass on Mr. Cephas' right leg--a procedure which enhanced only the blood supply from the femoral artery in the thigh to the popliteal artery above the knee, but did not relieve the reduced blood flow to the foot. Dr. Letzter learned of the surgery three days later, but did not contact Dr. Armand to advise that a distal bypass was necessary. A Plaintiff's expert testified that this omission by Dr. Armand was also medical malpractice.

On April 5, 1996, Mr. Cephas was readmitted to Glades because the bypass performed by Dr. Armand had failed and the infection had spread even more. Four days later, Dr. Armand amputated Mr. Cephas' right leg below the knee.

B. In the Circuit Court. Plaintiff Cephas sued Drs. Letzter and Armand.Dr. Armand did not appear at trial. At the close of the evidence, the Plaintiff moved

Page

for a directed verdict on the inapplicability of §768.81(3) because it applies only to joint tortfeasors, and Drs. Letzter and Armand were not joint tortfeasors as a matter of law (*see* R. 488-92; Tr. 845-47, 849-50). Under *Stuart v. Hertz*, the plaintiff argued, Dr. Letzter was responsible for all of the Plaintiff's damages (Tr. 850); and the Plaintiff also moved for a directed verdict on the applicability of *Stuart v. Hertz* (R. 482-87; Tr. 850-52). Dr. Letzter, who did *not* move for a directed verdict at any time before the verdict, agreed with the Plaintiff's legal position; but he argued that he and Dr. Armand were joint tortfeasors, because they created "one bottom-line injury", and thus that §768.81(3) required apportionment (Tr. 848-52). The Plaintiff suggested that regardless of the trial court's ruling on the two motions, if the jury should find both Defendants negligent, it should apportion fault between them "to obviate the necessity

²/ Dr. Letzter has agreed throughout that §768.81(3)--prescribing liability "on the basis of [each] party's percentage of fault and not on the basis of the doctrine of joint and several liability"--by its terms applies only where the common law doctrine of joint and several liability would otherwise have applied. *See* Tr. 863-64, 869-70, 847-75; Initial Brief of Appellants at 20-21 ("Because the defendants were joint tortfeasors as a matter of law, it was also error for the trial court to enter judgment against them jointly and severally instead of apportioning the judgment in accordance with the jury's verdict [under §768.81]"). As we will argue, Defendant Letzter's concession on the limited reach of the statute constitutes the law of this particular case, and is binding upon Dr. Letzter, regardless of this Court's disposition of the certified question on this point. The district court also agreed that §768.81(3) only applies to joint tortfeasors, 26 Fla. L. Weekly at D295: "Section 768.81, Florida Statutes, requires the apportionment of the non-economic damages portion of the judgment in cases involving joint tortfeasors."

Page

of a retrial" *Fabre v. Marin*, 623 So.2d 1182, 1183 (Fla. 1993), if the trial or appellate court should decide that §768.81(3) applied; and to allow Dr. Letzter to pursue a subrogation claim against Dr. Armand (Tr. 849-50, 868).

Plaintiff Cephas also asked for a jury instruction on the rule of *Stuart v. Hertz* (Tr. 850, 865-68). Dr. Letzter responded that if the jury was to be instructed on the law of Stuart v. Hertz, it should also determine whether the two doctors, if negligent, were in fact joint tortfeasors--and thus whether the *Stuart* rule--applicable to successive tortfeasors--or §768.81(3)--applicable to joint tortfeasors--should apply (Tr. 851, 863-64, 869-70, 874-75). The Plaintiff maintained that if the jury found both Defendants negligent, the issue of whether they were joint tortfeasors was a question of law for the court; and on the undisputed facts of record, assuming the jury found them negligent, Drs. Letzter and Armand were not joint tortfeasors as a matter of law (Tr. 872-73). As Dr. Letzter subsequently acknowledged (Tr. 876-77; R. 544), the trial court effectively agreed with the totality of the Plaintiff's position--that the two defendants, if negligent, were not joint tortfeasors; that §768.81(3) therefore did not apply; and that *Stuart v. Hertz* did apply--because the trial court agreed to instruct the jury that Stuart v. Hertz was applicable as a matter of law (Tr. 871, 875-77). It instructed that if the jury found that both doctors were a negligent cause of Mr. Cephas' injury, "the law regards the negligence of Dr. Letzter as the proximate cause of the damages flowing from the subsequent negligence or unskillful treatment by Dr. Armand and holds Dr. Letzter liable for all the damages" (Tr. 1009-10). However, it

Page

also took the Plaintiff's suggestion and instructed the jury to "determine and write on the verdict form what percentage of the total negligence of both defendants is chargeable to each" (Tr. 1009). The jury assigned 45% of the fault to Dr. Letzter and 55% of the fault to Dr. Armand, and awarded the Plaintiff approximately \$1.8 million in damages (Tr. 504-06).

Dr. Letzter's post-trial motion for directed verdict reiterated his contention (never before raised in a motion for directed verdict) that *Stuart* was inapplicable because Drs. Letzter and Armand were joint tortfeasors, and thus that §768.81(3) was applicable (R. 543-44). Dr. Letzter also moved for a new trial in the alternative, on the ground that the issue of whether the two doctors were joint tortfeasors should have been submitted to the jury (R. 544-45). Plaintiff Cephas moved post-trial for a directed verdict on the inapplicability of §768.81(3), on the ground that the defendants were not joint tortfeasors as a matter of law (R. 516-17, 540-41). The trial court denied all of these motions, but nonetheless agreed with the Plaintiff's position by holding Dr. Letzter jointly and severally liable for all the damages (*see* R. 585-86, 626-28, 630, 645-46, 647-49).

C. The District Court's Decision. Dr. Letzter appealed, arguing primarily that he and Dr. Armand were joint tortfeasors as a matter of law (an argument made for the first time post-trial); that *Stuart v. Hertz* therefore was inapplicable; and thus that the trial court had to apportion the non-economic damages under §768.81(3). See Initial Brief of Appellants at 22-32. In the alternative, Dr. Letzter argued that the trial

Page

court had erred in declining to submit to the jury the question of whether he and Dr. Armand were joint tortfeasors, which would require apportionment under §768.81 instead of the rule of *Stuart v. Hertz* (*id.* at 33-36).

In a 2-1 decision, the district court reversed with instructions to divide the noneconomic damages between Drs. Letzter and Armand under §768.81(3). It held 1) that §768.81(3) applies only to joint tortfeasors, Stuart v. Hertz therefore remains viable, and the trial court therefore did not err in so instructing the jury; 2) that the trial court should have allowed the jury to decide whether the two doctors were joint tortfeasors, and thus whether *Stuart* applied in this case; and 3) that notwithstanding the absence of such an instruction, the jury still must have found that Drs. Letzter and Armand were joint tortfeasors, because it allocated legal fault to both doctors, finding that Dr. Armand was a legal cause of injury to the Plaintiff. 26 Fla. L. Weekly at D295. If Dr. Armand was a legal cause of the Plaintiff's injury, the district court reasoned, then the jury must have found that he and Dr. Letzter were joint tortfeasors. The district court also rejected Plaintiff Cephas' cross-appeal (id. at D296 n.3), contending that §768.81(3) is unconstitutional both as enacted in 1986 and amended in 1999, and as interpreted in Fabre v. Marin, 623 So.2d 1182 (Fla. 1993) (see Appellee's brief at 29-43).

On the first point, the district court agreed with both parties that "by its very definition, the rule in *Stuart v. Hertz*, which contemplates an initial negligent act causing injury followed by negligent medical treatment for that injury, does not apply

Page

to joint tortfeasors" 26 Fla. L. Weekly at D295. In the instant case, "[s]ince at least one view of the evidence . . . would support the suggestion that Letzter and Armand were not joint tortfeasors, we find that the trial court did not err in giving the *Stuart v*. *Hertz* instruction" (id.).³/

On the second point, the district court held that "[w]hether or not defendants are joint tortfeasors is a question of fact determined by the circumstances of the particular case"; and thus "it was up to the jury to decide if the negligent actions of Drs. Letzter and Armand combined to create the initial injury, i.e., whether the two physicians were joint tortfeasors" (26 Fla. L. Weekly at D295). As we have noted, the claim against Dr. Letzter was that he was negligent in deciding to do nothing about the dry gangrene in Mr. Cephas' toe when he first examined him on January 22, 1996; that he was negligent on February 6 when he failed to diagnose wet gangrene and did nothing; that he was negligent on February 20 when he finally advised that surgery was necessary but failed to schedule it immediately; that he was negligent on February 25

__

³/ As we have noted, however, the trial court instructed the jury that if it found that Drs. Cephas and Armand were both negligent causes of the injury,"the law regards the negligence of Dr. Letzter as the proximate cause of the damages flowing from the subsequent negligence or unskillful treatment by Dr. Armand and holds Dr. Letzter liable for all the damages" (Tr. 1010). Effectively, therefore, the trial court told the jury that Drs. Armand and Letzter were not joint tortfeasors. Thus, it appears that the district court approved of the *Stuart v. Hertz* instruction only to the extent that it told the jury of the rule in *Stuart*, but not in foreclosing a decision by the jury that the two doctors in fact were joint tortfeasors, and thus that *Stuart* did not apply.

Page

when Mr. Cephas called to say that his toe was starting to fall off, but Dr. Letzter said only to "stay the course" and wait for the scheduled surgery; and that he was negligent yet a fifth time on March 7, 1996--three days after Dr. Armand performed the surgery-when he failed to call Dr. Armand after learning of the inappropriate procedure which Dr. Armand had performed.

Dr. Armand, in contrast, was allegedly negligent after he had amputated Mr. Cephas' forefoot--a procedure which "[n]one of the experts criticized" (26 Fla. L. Weekly at D294)--by also performing a femoral-to-popliteal artery bypass of Mr. Cephas' right leg, instead of doing the distal bypass which was required. Notwith-standing the separate temporal and spatial spheres of the two doctors' negligence, the district court found that they could be joint tortfeasors because the Plaintiff had suffered an indivisible injury--that is, their "negligence combined to cause the amputation [of Mr. Cephas' right leg], which was the initial injury" (26 Fla. L. Weekly at D295).⁴/ Therefore, although the district court agreed that the jury should have been told of the rule of *Stuart v. Hertz*, it held that the jury also should have been told to decide whether Drs. Letzter and Armand were joint tortfeasors, and thus whether the rule of *Stuart*, or instead §768.81(3), was applicable.

⁻

⁴ The "initial injury," of course, was not the amputation of Mr. Cephas' leg, but the earlier amputation by Dr. Armand of Mr. Cephas' forefoot--a procedure which "[n]one of the experts criticized" (26 Fla. L. Weekly at D294), and was necessitated entirely by Dr. Letzter's negligence.

Page

Third, however, the district court held that even in the absence of such an instruction, the jury must have concluded that Drs. Letzter and Armand were joint tortfeasors, and thus the trial court was required to enforce §768.81(3) by apportioning the non-economic damages between them. The district court's holding was not that §768.81(3) should apply whether or not the two doctors were joint tortfeasors. To the contrary, as we have noted, both parties had stipulated (thus defining the law of the case) that the statute only applies to joint tortfeasors, and the district court agreed with that conclusion. The district court's holding was that notwithstanding the trial court's instruction on the law of *Stuart v. Hertz*—which told the jury that if both doctors were negligent, "the law regards the negligence of Dr. Letzter as the proximate cause of the damages flowing from the subsequent negligence or unskillful treatment by Dr. Armand and holds Dr. Letzter liable for all the damages" (Tr. 1010)--the jury must have disobeyed that instruction, finding that the two doctors were joint tortfeasors, thus requiring the trial court to apply §768.81(3). The court's reasoning is found in a single paragraph, which ironically begins by acknowledging that the jury must be presumed to have followed the trial court's instructions (26 Fla. L. Weekly at D295):

In assessing how the jury resolved this issue, we must presume that the jury followed the court's instructions and applied the law to the facts as it found them. *See Eley v. Moris*, 478 So.2d 1100, 1103 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985). By finding Dr. Armand the legal cause of damages to Cephas, and allocating fault against Drs. Letzter and Armand, the jury must have rejected the application of *Stuart v. Hertz*

Page

and found the physicians joint tortfeasors. Otherwise, the jury would not have found any negligence on the part of Dr. Armand which was the *legal* cause of injury to Cephas since, under *Stuart v. Hertz*, Letzter would have been legally responsible for any injury caused by Armand's negligence. Thus, it was error for the trial judge to refuse to apportion the non-economic damages award pursuant to section 768.81.

Thus, the sole rationale was that the jury had disobeyed the court's charge that Stuart applied if Dr. Letzter was negligent, and had relieved Dr. Letzter of his responsibility for all of the damages, by finding that Dr. Armand also was legally responsible for some or all of the damages. In the district court's view, even if a subsequent treating physician was negligent, and even if such negligence was a cause in fact of the plaintiff's injury, any such negligence cannot be a "legal cause" of the injury if the initial wrongdoer is liable for all the damages. In short, if *Stuart* applies, the subsequent treating doctor is not liable (and of course, the initial wrongdoer has no right of subrogation, see infra p. 24). On this premise, because the jury had found that Dr. Armand was a legal cause of the Plaintiff's injury, it must have found that the two doctors were joint tortfeasors, and thus §768.81(3) required apportionment. And if there was any ambiguity about that conclusion, the Plaintiff was "in no position to complain about the lack of a clearer or more definitive jury finding on this issue as it was he who objected to specifically asking the jury whether the physicians were joint tortfeasors" (26 Fla. L. Weekly at D295).

Page

Finally, even though both parties had stipulated, thus defining the law of this particular case, that §768.81(3) applies only to joint tortffeasors and thus that *Stuart v. Hertz* remains viable, the district court certified to this Court the questions of whether *Stuart v. Hertz* was supplanted by the statute; and if not, whether it continues to apply when the initial negligence is medical malpractice, and both the initial and subsequent tortfeasors are sued in the same case.⁵/

II. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

First, the doctrine of *Stuart v. Hertz* survives §768.81(3), because that statute applies only where the common law doctrine of joint and several liability otherwise

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