SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-374

JOSEPH CEPHAS,

Petitioner,

v.

MARK J. LETZTER, M.D., et al.,

Respondents.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA FOURTH DISTRICT CASE NOS. 99-02182 & 99-02925

AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS MARK J. LETZTER, M.D., ET AL.

HICKS, ANDERSON & KNEALE, P.A. 799 Brickell Plaza, 9th Floor Miami, FL 33131

> Tel: 305/374-8171 Fax: 305/372-8038

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

While we agree with the principle of *Hertz*, we think it inapplicable in the instant case. The original tortfeasor and the doctor in *Hertz* were not joint tortfeasors as that term is generally understood. In *Hertz*, both the original tortfeasor and the doctor committed acts against the plaintiff which were *demonstrably separate in time and effect*. In the case at bar,

even if it could be said that the alleged acts of the hospital and the doctor did not precisely coincide in time, nevertheless their acts combined to produce a single injury. The determination of whether two parties are joint tortfeasors should not depend upon split second timing.

Id. at 434.

Like the doctor and the hospital in *Leesburg*, the alleged acts of Dr. Armand and Dr. Letzter combined to produce a single injury -- the amputation of Cephas' right lower leg, and the two defendants were therefore joint tortfeasors. *Id. See also* Randle-Eastern Ambulance Serv., Inc. v. Millens, 294 So. 2d 38 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974) (although separate accidents were successive in time, resulting damages to plaintiff were inseparable; thus, defendants involved in accidents were jointly and severally liable); Florida Farm Bureau Cas. Co. v. Batton, 444 So. 2d 1128 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984) (state and contractor were joint tortfeasors where contractor negligently installed equipment in exhaust fan and state negligently failed to provide a warning or require a screen guard on fan, which resulted in single injury to plaintiff); Walker v. U-Haul Co., Inc., 300 So. 2d 289, 290-91 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974) (both operator and owner of truck were joint tortfeasors where negligence of owners, "though separate and distinct from the negligent conduct of [the operator], necessarily concurred in bringing about the collision resulting in the death of Mrs. Walker"); Sol Walker & Co. v. Seaboard Coast Line R.R. Co., 362 So. 2d 45, 50 (Fla. 2d DCA 1978) ("Even in the absence" of concerted action between Walker and Seaboard, there was a jury question on whether the negligent acts of these parties combined to become the direct and proximate cause of a single injury to Mr. Warder. Hence, we believe that Walker and Seaboard were tortfeasors within the scope of the Uniform Act.").

The cases cited by Cephas on this point in footnote 19 of his brief do not hold otherwise. Contrary to Cephas' parenthetical summary, the damages caused by the tortfeasors in Beverly Enterprises-Fla. v. McVey, 739 So. 2d 646 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999), arose out of totally separate injuries: the original injury was a subdural hematoma caused by the convalescent home, but the decedent's death resulted from "conditions which originated in the V.A. hospital," where he was later taken. *Id.* at 647. *Fletcher* also has no application on this point, as that case held that "acts of negligence in medically treating an injury are distinct and separate from the acts of negligence that caused the injury." *Id.* at 525. In contrast, all of the acts of negligence alleged in this case arose out of the medical treatment of Cephas' diabetes. Lauth v. Olsten Home Healthcare, Inc., 678 So. 2d 447 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996), also involved unrelated damages against the different defendants: claims of negligence per se arising out of violations of the Florida Administrative Code requiring a nursing home patient's transfer to a different facility and the intentional disregard of statutory duties, and separate claims of medical malpractice arising out of the patient's actual nursing care

and treatment. *Gordon v. Marvin Rosenberg, D.D.S., P.A.*, 654 So. 2d 643 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), clearly involved allegations of separate procedures and separate damages against the defendants. One defendant dentist performed an improper denture placement, which prevented the plaintiff from using his teeth, and the other defendant dentist performed an improper implant procedure sometime before that, which resulted in a number of mutually exclusive disabilities. *Touche Ross & Co. v. Sun Bank of Riverside*, 366 So. 2d 465 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979) and *VTN Consolidated, Inc. v. Coastal Engineering Assocs.*, 341 So. 2d 226 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976), have no application to these facts. Both of those cases involved economic damages arising out of unrelated acts of negligence.

Although the Fourth District ultimately rejected Dr. Letzter's argument that the physicians were joint tortfeasors as a matter of law, it held:

During the proceedings below, causation was the critical issue. The bulk of the evidence suggested that medical experts believed that Dr. Armand's decision to perform a femoral-to-popliteal bypass on Cephas' right leg, which addresses blood supply from the femoral artery in the thigh to the popliteal artery above the knee, was negligent because the procedure did not address the real problem – the reduced blood flow to Cephas' foot. On the issue of Dr. Letzter's negligence, the evidence was more varied. There was evidence from which the jury could have found either (1) that Letzter's initial wait-and-see approach was negligent, allowing the infection to set in, and that this "initial injury" gave rise to all of the subsequent medical treatment given by Dr. Armand or (2) that Letzter's and Armand's negligence combined to cause the amputation, which was the initial injury. In short, given the evidence, it was up to the

jury to decide if the negligent actions of Drs. Letzter and Armand combined to create the initial injury, i.e., whether the two physicians were joint tortfeasors.

26 Fla. L. Weekly at D295. Cephas does not appear to take issue with the Fourth District's characterization of the evidence, and in fact he correctly notes that the evidence merely "permitted" the jury to make the findings he now advocates. (I.B. p. 29). Thus, even if this Court agrees with the Fourth District that the doctors were not joint tortfeasors as a matter of law, Cephas does not provide any basis for a reversal of the Fourth District.

Cephas incorrectly argues to this Court that his "initial injury" was the forefoot amputation performed by Dr. Armand. This is contrary to all of the evidence and theories of liability asserted by Cephas throughout the litigation. As shown above, Cephas maintained all along that the injury caused by Dr. Letzter was the amputation of his lower leg, not the forefoot amputation. Furthermore, there was absolutely no evidence presented at trial to suggest that the forefoot amputation would not have been necessary but for Dr. Letzter's negligence. Rather, the evidence showed that, if the jury was to determine that Dr. Letzter's failure to act more promptly was below the standard of care, the effect of Dr. Letzter's negligence was Cephas' seeking of the inadequate care of Dr. Armand, which resulted in Dr. Armand's improper femoral-to-popliteal bypass and ultimately led to Cephas' below-knee amputation.

Dr. Letzter's failure to contact Dr. Armand after learning of the improper procedure, which occurred simultaneously with Dr. Armand's treatment of Cephas, was not a mere, passive continuation of all the alleged prior acts of negligence by Dr. Letzter, as Cephas asserts. (I.B. p. 30). To the contrary, at trial Cephas' own standard of care expert testified that at the time Dr. Armand performed the forefoot amputation, the proper bypass procedure still could have and should have been performed. (T3. 223-24; 227-28). Significantly, he believed that the point in time in which the loss of Cephas' leg became inevitable was when Dr. Armand performed the femoral-topopliteal bypass. (T3. 305-06). Cephas' expert felt that after Dr. Letzter learned that Cephas had undergone the right-foot amputation, he should have contacted Dr. Armand and found out what he had done in order to inform Dr. Armand that additional revascularization was necessary. (T2. 225-26). He further testified that Dr. Letzter had adequate time to intervene in Dr. Armand's treatment before he performed the incorrect procedure on Cephas' leg. (T2. 226-27).

Thus, Cephas' own evidence and theories of liability and damages show that the alleged negligence of Drs. Letzter and Armand combined to produce a single injury -- the amputation of Cephas' right lower leg. Because Cephas has failed to show that, given all of the evidence, the physicians were separate tortfeasors as a matter of law, this Court should not disturb the Fourth District's finding on this issue, or should rule

that the doctors were joint tortfeasors as a matter of law.

IV. IN ADDITION TO THE FACT THAT THIS COURT HAS ALREADY HELD THAT THE APPORTIONMENT STATUTE IS CONSTITUTIONAL, THE VERSION OF THE STATUTE THAT APPLIED TO THIS ACTION HAS BEEN AMENDED.

This Court has already held that the apportionment statute, section 768.81(3), Fla. Stat., is constitutional, *Smith v. Department of Ins.*, 507 So. 2d 1080 (Fla. 1987), and this Court is bound to follow its own precedent unless a departure is "necessary to vindicate other principles of law or to remedy continued injustice." *Haag v. State*, 591 So. 2d 614, 618 (Fla. 1992).

Additionally, the constitutionality of the apportionment statute should not be revisited in this action in any event because the version of the apportionment statute that was applied in this case is no longer in effect. *See* § 768.71, Fla. Stat. (1999) (application of § 768.81 is based on date action accrued); *Metropolitan Dade County v. Jones Boatyard, Inc.*, 611 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 1993) (same). In 1999, long after Cephas' action had accrued, the Legislature made extensive amendments to subsection (3) of section 768.81, Fla. Stat., the portion of the statute which Cephas challenges. Thus, any interpretation by this Court of the former version of the statute that applied in this case would have virtually no application to the 1999 amended version, and would therefore be needless.

In addition to the futility of any revisitation of the former version of the statute, Cephas and ATLA have failed to show that the apportionment statute violates any of the constitutional provisions alleged. This Court has unanimously rejected Cephas' argument regarding the statute's effect on the right of access to courts in *Smith v*. *Department of Insurance*, holding: "We find no violation of the right of access to the court because that right does not include the right to recover for injuries beyond those caused by the particular defendant." 507 So. 2d at 1091. As Cephas identifies no "other principles of law" that require vindication or a "continued injustice" that must be remedied, there is no reason for this Court to revisit the issue.

Similarly, this Court has also rejected Cephas' arguments that the apportionment statute violates the Due Process and Equal Protection Clauses, holding: "We find no due process or equal protection violation because there is a rational basis for each exception." *Smith*, 507 So. 2d at 1091. Indeed, the apportionment of liability satisfies the legislative intent of balancing the interests of the injured party "against the interests of society as a whole, in that the burden of compensating for such losses is ultimately borne by all persons, rather than by the tortfeasor alone . . ." *Id.* at 1084 n.2 (citing the Legislature's preamble to the Tort Reform and Insurance Act).

It should additionally be noted that Cephas has waived any argument that

Florida's apportionment statute violates the right of access to courts or equal protection, as his sole contention below was that the statute violates constitutional due process rights. (R. 488-91; T. 847). *See Tillman v. State*, 471 So. 2d 32, 35 (Fla. 1985) ("In order to be preserved for further review by a higher court, an issue must be presented to the lower court and the specific legal argument or ground to be argued on appeal or review must be part of that presentation if it is to be considered preserved.").

This Court should additionally decline to address Cephas' argument regarding the statute's alleged violation of equal protection because it primarily attacks the 1999 amendment to the statute, which is not at issue in this case. It is well-settled that "a court will not pass upon the constitutional validity of any statute unless it becomes necessary to do so in order to determine the issues in the case under consideration." *Johnson v. White Swan Laundry*, 41 So. 2d 874, 876 (Fla. 1949) (en banc).

Cephas' action accrued in 1996, when the medical treatment at issue was rendered by the defendants and, according to his claims, resulted in his below-knee amputation. Thus, the trial court below properly applied the former version of the apportionment statute to this action, and any ruling on the statute as amended would have no bearing on this case. Because any review by this Court of the amended version of the statute would have no effect on the instant case, this Court should

decline review of the 1999 version of the apportionment statute. *Id.*; *see also Palm Beach Mobile Homes v. Strong*, 300 So. 2d 881, 883 (Fla. 1974) ("[I]t is a fundamental principle that courts will not pass upon the validity of a statute or even a part of an act in a proceeding which does not involve the act . . ."); *In re Estate of Sale*, 227 So. 2d 199, 201 (Fla. 1969) ("[W]e need not decide the constitutional question under the well-settled rule that such a question ordinarily will be decided only when necessary to a disposition of the cause."); *Snedeker v. Vernmar, Ltd.*, 151 So. 2d 439, 441 (Fla. 1963) (a court may not pass on a statute's constitutional validity "in the abstract or upon any consideration other than its application in a certain case"); *North Am. Co. v. Green*, 120 So. 2d 603, 606 (Fla. 1959) ("It is a long established rule that the courts will not consider the alleged unconstitutionality of a statute unless it is necessary to do so in order to dispose of the problem at hand.").

For the reasons asserted above, this Court should decline Cephas' suggestion to review the constitutionality of the former version of the apportionment statute, which applied to this action, or the amended version of the statute, which has no bearing on this action.

V. THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO REVISIT THE FABRE DECISION, AS IT HAS NO APPLICATION TO THE INSTANT ACTION.

Cephas' and ATLA's appeals to this Court to recede from its decision in *Fabre* v. *Marin*, 623 So. 2d 1182 (Fla. 1993), are not properly before this Court, because the validity of the *Fabre* decision has no application to or bearing on this case. This Court held in *Fabre* that section 768.81(3), Fla. Stat., requires the jury to consider the negligence of all tortfeasors, including those not brought into the litigation, for the purposes of fault apportionment. Thus, a defendant who properly pleads the negligence of a non-party is entitled to present evidence that the non-party's negligence contributed to the plaintiff's injuries. Cephas and ATLA assert that the *Fabre* opinion's allowance of the apportionment of fault to non-parties renders the apportionment statute unconstitutional.

Fabre does not apply to this action because this case did not involve the potential fault of any non-parties. The only potential tortfeasors whose fault the jury was asked to consider were Dr. Letzter and Dr. Armand, both of whom were voluntarily sued by Cephas. Both parties had the opportunity to conduct discovery and defend themselves, and Dr. Armand was represented throughout most of the proceedings. In fact, Cephas took full advantage of Dr. Armand's status as a party at trial by using the deposition of Dr. Bandyk, Dr. Armand's standard of care expert, to lay blame on Dr. Letzter. (T. 5-10; R. 449-74).

Thus, a recession from Fabre would not alter Dr. Letzter's right to argue the

fault of Dr. Armand, a co-defendant, and would not have any effect on the

proceedings below. Cephas and ATLA are merely using their briefs as platforms for

a general attack on an unrelated opinion that has absolutely no bearing on the instant

case. See State v. Champe, 373 So. 2d 874, 877 (Fla. 1978) ("Persons not affected

by the operation of a statute have no standing to challenge its validity."); State v. Ginn,

660 So. 2d 1118, 1120 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995) ("It is well established in Florida that a

person to whom a statute can be constitutionally applied may not challenge the statute

on the grounds that it may result in an impermissible application to someone else.").

CONCLUSION

It is respectfully submitted that this Court either decline to exercise its

discretionary jurisdiction or approve the decision of the Fourth District and answer

certified question (1) in the affirmative and certified question (2) in the negative.